FILED SID J. WHITE NOV 8 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

÷.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. 79,369

Petitioner/Complainant,

TFB No. 91-10,777(13C) 91-11,023(13C)

v.

MANUEL A. MACHIN,

Cross-Petitioner/Respondent.

_____/

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

SUSAN V. BLOEMENDAAL Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 347175

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Beginning in July of 1990, Respondent represented a client named Nelson Gonzalez, who had been accused in the murder of Samuel Sierra. FH/TR 95, 101. Mr. Gonzalez was also charged with kidnapping Mr. Sierra's girlfriend, Susan Schultz. FH/RR 4. At the time of Mr. Sierra's murder, Ms. Schultz was pregnant with Mr. Sierra's child. FH/TR 101. After the birth of Ms. Schultz's child, Ms. Schultz was deposed by Respondent in January of 1991 concerning the events surrounding Mr. Sierra's murder. FH/TR 94. During a break in the deposition, and in the presence of then Assistant State Attorney John Valenti and another individual, Respondent approached Ms. Schultz and discussed with her the possibility of setting up a trust fund for her infant, in exchange for her silence. FH/TR 95-97, 314. Shortly after Ms. Schultz's deposition, a plea agreement was reached in Mr. Gonzalez's case. FH/TR 109. A hearing was scheduled for January 15, 1991 to allow the defendant to enter the plea. FH/TR 110. Prior to the hearing, Respondent advised law enforcement authorities that he had been approached by Attorney Charles Corces, who attempted to solicit a bribe for Mr. Valenti in exchange for a favorable plea for Respondent's client. At the January 15, 1991 hearing, after a sham plea was entered by the defendant, Mr. Valenti was arrested on bribery and conspiracy charges. FH/TR 117, 369. Mr. Valenti and Mr. Corces were criminally charged with bribery conspiracy charges relating to the Nelson Gonzalez case. FH/TR 326-333; RR 6. The sham plea was set aside on January 28, 1991. Respondent's Exhibit

A second plea hearing was then held on February 12, 1991. #2. FH/TR 97, 111, 122. Respondent's Exh. #3. Susan Schultz attended the February 12, 1991 hearing, together with Mr. Sierra's mother, Mary Martinez, and other friends and relatives of the victim. FH/TR 98, 123. While seated in the first row of the courtroom, Ms. Schultz was approached by Respondent, who leaned over the railing and spoke with Ms. Schultz and Ms. Martinez. FH/TR 98, 99, 123, Respondent advised Ms. Schultz that the money for the trust 336. fund was still available if she kept quiet at the sentencing hearing. FH/TR 98, 113-115, 118, 123. When the Respondent spoke to Ms. Schultz, he believed that she understood that the trust fund offer was contingent upon her and the victim's family not speaking in aggravation of the defendant's sentence. FH/TR 372-373. Ms. Martinez subsequently informed the court of the Respondent's comments, which she characterized to the court as a "bribe." FH/TR 125, 126. When the court questioned Respondent on this, Respondent advised the court that the defendant's family had offered to make available a trust fund for up to \$30,000.00. Respondent's Exhibit #3, pg. 19. Respondent further advised the court that the monies would be available if the mother of the victim's child (Ms. Schultz) and the grandmother of the victim's child (Ms. Martinez) did not attempt to aggravate the defendant's sentence. Respondent's Exhibit #3, pg. 22. The money would not be available the victim's family sought to aggravate the if sentence. Respondent's Exhibit #3, pg. 22. The court thereafter advised that he would decide the sentence only after hearing from everyone as to

both aggravating and mitigating factors, according to the law. Respondent's Exhibit #3, pg. 22-23. At the sentencing hearing held on March 26, 1991, Ms. Schultz, Ms. Martinez, and other family members spoke in aggravation of the sentence, requesting that the court sentence Mr. Gonzalez to the maximum sentence allowable by law. Respondent's Exhibit #4, pg. 46-49. The court then sentenced Mr. Gonzalez to serve seventeen (17) years on the first count, a charge of Second Degree Murder With a Firearm, and five (5) years on the second count, a charge of False Imprisonment, to be served consecutive to the first count. Respondent's Exhibit #3, pg. 53-54. Because Susan Schultz and Ms. Martinez sought to aggravate the sentence, no trust fund was established for the victim's child. FH/TR 129, 342-343.

On February 14, 1992, The Florida Bar's complaint was filed charging Respondent with two counts of misconduct. A Referee was appointed February 28, 1992, and a final hearing was held on September 9-10, 1992. The Referee recommended Respondent be found not guilty of the Bar's charges in Count I of the complaint, but guilty in Count II of the complaint of violation of Rules 3-4.3 and 4-8.4(d). On April 23, 1993, a disciplinary hearing was held for the purpose of presenting evidence in aggravation and mitigation, and for the purpose of argument by counsel. The Referee's Report issued July 20, 1993, recommended imposition of a ninety (90) day suspension together with payment of costs. On October 1, 1993, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar voted to direct bar counsel to petition for review of the referee's recommended discipline of

ninety (90) days, and to request a discipline of six (6) months. The Bar's Petition for Review was filed on October 7, 1993. On October 13, 1993, Respondent served a Counter Petition for review of this matter.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was found guilty of conduct arising out of his representation of a client who was a criminal defendant charged with murder and kidnapping. The referee found Respondent guilty of conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice, and conduct contrary to honesty and justice, for offering a trust fund for the child of the murder victim in exchange for the victim's family agreeing not to speak in aggravation at the sentencing hearing. The referee recommended that Respondent be suspended for 90 days, and it is The Florida Bar's position that a suspension of 90 days is insufficient. Respondent should be suspended for six months for attempting to interfere with the judicial process by offering money in exchange for silence. Respondent attempted to deprive the victim's family of their right to speak out against the crime at This conduct by Respondent is both contrary to the sentencing. honesty and justice, and prejudicial to the administration of justice, and warrants a suspension of six months. A 90 days suspension is not sufficient to protect the public or to deter others who might be tempted to engage in similar misconduct.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A NINETY (90) DAY SUSPENSION IS NOT SUFFICIENT FOR CONDUCT INVOLVING AN ATTEMPT TO BUY THE SILENCE OF A VICTIM'S FAMILY AT SENTENCING.

The central issue in this matter was clearly defined by the Referee during the course of the final hearing and was agreed to both by Respondent and Bar Counsel:

<u>The Court</u>: In essence it boils down to this. Is it or is it not improper for a lawyer to make an offer to a victim's family to set up a legitimate trust fund for them or their child or whoever might be the victim in exchange for their agreeing not to speak in aggravation at sentencing.

The Witness [Respondent]: That is correct. FH/TR 368.

It is clear from the record that Respondent offered to set up the trust fund for the purpose of enhancing his client's chance to get a better deal and in hopes of obtaining less than the maximum sentence allowable under the plea. DH/TR 53, 58. There is no question that the offer of a trust fund for the victim's infant child was contingent on no testimony in aggravation at the sentencing hearing. FH/TR 318, 319, 343; DH/TR 372-373. Based on Respondent's previous experience with that particular judge he knew that the plea might be rejected if the judge heard aggravating circumstances. FH/TR 319, 340. DH/TR 50. The condition of silence in exchange for the trust fund was communicated by Respondent to both Ms. Schultz and Ms. Martinez. The offer was made in hopes that the victim's family would agree not to speak in aggravation at the sentencing hearing and his client would get a

better deal. FH/TR 340. Further, Respondent clearly knew that Ms. Schultz and Ms. Martinez were aware of the contingency when he made the final offer at the February 12, 1991 plea hearing. DH/TR 372-373. Because the victim's family testified in aggravation of the sentence, no trust fund was ever established for the victim's child and Respondent's client received the maximum sentence allowable under the open plea.

Respondent's conduct is a clear attempt to manipulate the judicial system by the exchange of money for silence. The matter before the court was not a civil matter where the economic interests of individuals may freely be negotiated between the Such economic bargaining is not permitted in criminal parties. relevant evidence, including victim impact **A**11 matters. statements, should be taken into consideration by the court in imposing a proper sentence. RR 8. The victim's family had a statutory right to speak at the sentencing; Respondent's attempt to buy their silence strikes to the very heart of the fair and equal administration of justice. At the February 12, 1991 hearing, when the victim's mother heard Respondent's offer of the trust fund in exchange for silence, she expressed her outrage to the court, calling the offer a "bribe." Ms. Martinez, having once been victimized by the murder of her son, and Ms. Schultz herself the victim of kidnapping and the witness to the murder of her child's father, were again victimized by Respondent's offer. They were subjected to an offer that forced them to choose between economic compensation for an infant and their desire to speak in aggravation

of the crime.

The posthumous child of the murder victim was not entitled to restitution in the criminal case. However, had Respondent's client proposed such a trust fund with no strings attached, it would have been permissible, even commendable. Had Respondent's client been desirous of mitigating damage to the victim's family, he could have offered the trust fund with no strings attached. It is the quid pro quo of this offer that is so pernicious. The system of justice is seriously undermined when a defendant is permitted to exchange money for the silence of the victim's family at a sentencing. Economic power should not be used to either reduce or enhance the court's access to information. To do so would be to allow a defendant with economic resources to tip the balance in his favor where a less fortunate defendant is without that power. Money in exchange for silence unfairly tilts the playing field in favor of those with economic resources.

Had the victim's family attempted to extract payment from the defendant in exchange for silence at the sentencing, they would most likely have been charged with extortion. Respondent's conduct is far worse by virtue of his position as an officer of the court and his obligation to preserve and maintain the integrity and fairness of the judicial system. His deliberate participation in such a scheme damages the reputation of the legal profession and prejudices the administration of justice. Such conduct cannot be tolerated.

The Referee has indicated, as a mitigating factor, the disclosure and/or tacit approval of Respondent's conduct by others (including the State Attorney and the Court) prior to the Bar's complaint. RR 9-10. However, The Florida Bar strongly urges this Court to assign little if any weight to this factor in mitigation of the discipline to be imposed. The Referee conceded in her report that, "There is some dispute as to whether full disclosure, i.e. silence for money was explained." RR 9 (emphasis in original). According to the Referee's Report, Mr. Valenti clearly knew about the quid pro quo. Mr. Valenti, however, is the same individual who was arrested at the sham hearing and has been charged with bribery and conspiracy. The Assistant State Attorney, John Skye, who took over responsibility from Mr. Valenti, testified at the final hearing in this matter that there were no negotiations between himself and Respondent regarding silence on the part of Susan Schultz or Mary Martinez in exchange for money or a trust fund for the baby. FH/TR 144. At the time of the February 12th hearing, at which the referee indicates there was no disapproval by the court or others, the misconduct had already occurred. More importantly, should Respondent have to be told by others that such a scheme is unethical? As the referee pointed out in her report, Respondent had at least questioned the ethical propriety of his conduct and had undertaken legal research to determine whether such a course of conduct was permissible. RR 8, DH/TR 31, 44-45. At the Final Hearing, Respondent testified as follows:

Q. (By Mr. Smith) Mr. Machin, did you in fact engage your law clerk, Daniel Castillo, to assist you with

researching the issue of setting up a trust fund before you made that offer?

A. (By Respondent) That's correct.

Q. (By Mr. Smith) Did you find any law indicating that that was improper?

A. (By Respondent) No. There was no precedent in the State of Florida indicating that that type of procedure would be inappropriate or unlawful.

Even after being told by the referee in this case that his conduct was in violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, Respondent still refused to acknowledge the wrongful nature of his conduct. That refusal was specifically found by the referee to be an aggravating factor. RR 10-11. As indicated in the Referee's Report, Respondent denied any wrongdoing throughout the disciplinary proceedings even after the finding of guilt. At the disciplinary hearing the referee attempted to get Respondent to acknowledge his wrongdoing and in response to this questioning he replied:

I don't foresee any likelihood that I would ever involve myself in that type of activity again <u>because the cost</u> far outweighs any benefits that were derived from it. DH/TR 58-59, RR 9 (emphasis in Referee's Report).

Attorneys, as officers of the court, have a duty both to their client and to the judicial system. In some instances, the duty to the judicial system outweighs an attorney's obligation of zealous advocacy to his client.

The Bar is aware of no case previously decided by this Court disciplining an attorney for precisely the misconduct with which Respondent is charged. However, this Court has decided other cases finding attorneys guilty of conduct prejudicial to the

administration of justice, even in situations where there was no misrepresentation to a court or presentation of false evidence to a court. In The Florida Bar v. Whitfield, 435 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1983), a former assistant state attorney was suspended for six months for advising a suspect in a criminal prosecution that there was an ongoing investigation, thereby prejudicing the State's case. In addition, Whitfield was found guilty of denying she had made the false statement to an undercover agent. Whitfield was suspended for six months even where there was no misrepresentation to a court, or presentation of false evidence to a court. More recently, in The Florida Bar v. George H. Carswell, Jr., 18 F.L.W. 507 (Fla. Sept. 23, 1993), this Court suspended an attorney for 180 days for tampering with a witness during the attorney's county judge election campaign. As explanation for its refusal to impose the 90 day suspension recommended by the referee, despite the presence of mitigating circumstances, the Court referred to the purposes of discipline enunciated in The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So. 2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970):

While the recommended 90 day suspension may be sufficient to satisfy the first two purposes, it is wholly insufficient to deter others who may be tempted to tamper with witnesses by inducing them to lie to law enforcement officers in an investigation. <u>Carswell</u> at 508.

In the instant case, a 90 day suspension fails to fulfill two of the purposes of discipline enunciated in <u>Pahules</u>. First, the discipline is not fair to society in that societal interests in the fair administration of justice are neither adequately recognized nor protected. Neither is a 90 day suspension sufficient to deter

other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct. Criminal defense attorneys, hoping to obtain a more favorable sentence for a client, must be put on notice that any attempt to interfere with a victim's rights to testify at the sentencing will be met with significant discipline. A failure to sufficiently discipline Respondent will not only diminish respect for the legal profession and the judicial system, but may encourage other attorneys to engage in behaviors that promote a system of checkbook justice.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Colee</u>, 533 So. 2d 767 (Fla. 1988), this Court suspended an attorney for 90 days for attempting to sell information regarding an alleged fraud on the court to the attorney who lost the case. Respondent, like Mr. Colee claimed he could find no violation in his proposed conduct. In <u>Colee</u>, this Court agreed with the referee that there was no clearly delineated prohibition against the attorney's conduct, yet found Colee guilty of the conduct complained of:

Notwithstanding Colee's previously unblemished record and his belief that he committed no ethical violation in taking the course he did, we find that a 90 day suspension is warranted. Even though the Bar rules do not expressly proscribe Colee's action, it is incomprehensible to us that an attorney would seek to benefit financially from furthering the truth seeking process in this manner. Colee at 769.

Finally, Section 6.12 of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provides for suspension in cases involving conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice. A suspension of six months is consistent with the standards. Further, it is consistent with cases previously decided by this Court, and fulfills all of the purposes of discipline as set forth in Pahules.

CONCLUSION

Respondent's conduct in offering a trust fund to a victim's family in exchange for silence is an attempt to interfere with the fair administration of justice and as such violates the rule prohibiting conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice. Respondent's conduct constitutes a breach of his duties to the legal profession, the judicial system, and to society as a whole. A six month suspension will put others on notice others who might be tempted to engage in such conduct that there are serious consequences for doing so.

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court disapprove the referee's recommended discipline of 90 days, and instead impose a discipline of six months.