## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner/Complainant,

CASE NO: 79,369

v.

MANUEL A. MACHIN,

Cross-Petitioner/Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF AND INITIAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF COUNTER-PETITION

DONALD A. SMITH, JR., ESQUIRE SMITH AND TOZIAN, P.A. 109 North Brush Street Suite 150 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813)273-0063 Fla. Bar No. 265101

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Referee's recommendation of guilt is unsupported by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent's conduct resulted in any prejudice to the administration of justice in the case of State of Florida v. Nelson Gonzalez. Conversely, the record evidence clearly establishes that neither the office of the State Attorney, the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office, the office of Victim's Assistance, nor the presiding judge, objected to the proposed conduct or found it to be prejudicial to the administration of justice. Furthermore, Respondent acted at all times in a good faith belief that his conduct was legally and ethically appropriate; he openly disclosed the proposed trust fund to all; and he acted consistent with his duty to zealously and competently represent his client's interest. These facts support only a determination that Respondent is not guilty of misconduct and therefore the Referee's recommendation of quilt should be rejected.

However, should this Court determine that Respondent unintentionally violated the cited rules, an admonishment should be imposed as discipline. In view of the facts and circumstances present at the time of Respondent's conduct; his good faith intent and lack of a willful violation; in view of Respondent's reputation and his lack of prior discipline; and based upon the absence of any prejudice to the judicial system, an admonishment is the only discipline which is consistent with the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and which also serves the purposes of discipline without punishing Respondent.

#### ARGUMENT

THE OPEN DISCLOSURE BY A DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY THAT THE DEFENDANT'S FAMILY WISHED TO ESTABLISH A LEGITIMATE TRUST FUND FOR THE BENEFIT OF A VICTIM'S CHILD, IN CONSIDERATION FOR THE VICTIM'S FAMILY AGREEING NOT TO ATTEMPT TO AGGRAVATE THE DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE PURSUANT TO PLEA NEGOTIATIONS, WITHOUT OBJECTION BY THE STATE OR THE COURT, IS NOT CONDUCT PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE.

The Preamble to our Rules of Professional Conduct states that "In the practice of law conflicting responsibilities are often encountered. Difficult ethical problems may arise from a conflict between a lawyer's responsibility to a client and the lawyer's . . . obligations to society and the legal profession". Preamble, Chapter 4, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The preamble continues that such differing issues should be resolved by exercising professional and moral judgment guided by the basic principals underlying these rules. However, the rules provide only a framework within which the ethical lawyer should practice because no set of rules can anticipate or define every circumstance which may confront a lawyer. Therefore, the rules "Presuppose that disciplinary assessment of a lawyer's conduct will be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances as they existed at the time of the conduct in question". The rules further presuppose that whether discipline should be imposed depends on all circumstances, including the willfulness of the violation; the existence of previous violations and the extenuating circumstances. Preamble, Chapter 4, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The undisputed facts presented by this case prove that Mr. Machin, during the representation of a criminal client, was

confronted with a unique circumstance which involved a possible conflicting responsibility between his duty to his client and to the court. Respondent's conduct must now be evaluated in terms of the facts and considerations existing at the time. The conduct of Respondent, Manuel Machin, when considered in light of all relevant facts and his responsibility to his client, was not prejudicial to the administration of justice as proscribed by Rules 3-4.3 and 4-8.4(d), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The facts are that in 1990 and 1991, Respondent represented a criminal client charged with murder and kidnapping. [FH/TR 95 - 101]. At the time of the crimes, the kidnapping victim, Susan Schultz, was the murder victim's girlfriend and was pregnant with his child. [FH/TR 95 -101].

During the course of the representation, the family of the defendant notified Respondent that it was prepared to establish a trust fund for the benefit of the murder victim's new born child. The offer was to be conditional upon an agreement by the victim's family that they would not attempt to aggravate the sentence which had been negotiated by Respondent with the State of Florida. [FH/TR 94 - 97, 314].

The Respondent initially discussed this offer with the child's mother, Susan Schultz, and the assistant state attorney prosecuting the case. [FH/TR 94 - 97, 314]. Neither objected to the proposed trust fund and the assistant state attorney later recommended to Ms. Schultz that she accept the offer. [FH/TR 119].

Throughout the course of the representation, Respondent

continued to make disclosure of this offer to the State Attorney's Office, including discussions with the Chief Assistant and Felony Bureau Chief. [FH/TR 333]. He also made disclosure to a captain of the Sheriff's Office which had investigated the case. [FH/TR 333]. The Victim's Assistance representative responsible for counseling Susan Schultz was also aware of the offer. [FH/TR 324, 337; R. Ex. 5]. Respondent also made complete disclosure, in open court, with all relevant parties present, to the judge presiding over the case. This disclosure included the necessary condition that the victim's family agree not to attempt to aggravate the sentence. [FH/TR 118; R. Ex. 3].

At no time between the initial disclosure in January, 1991 and the defendant's sentencing on March 26, 1991, did any assistant state attorney, law enforcement representative, Victim's Assistance representative, or the judge, object to the proposed trust fund or even question the propriety of the offer. [R. Ex. 3; R. Ex. 5; FH/TR 338, 344].

Respondent recognized and appreciated the potential legal and ethical issues involved in such a proposal. Therefore, he engaged in legal research to determine the existence of any authority which might prohibit such a proposal. [DH/TR 44, 45]. He found there to be no legal or ethical precedent which prohibited this offer or otherwise indicated that such was not an appropriate course of action. [DH/TR 45].

Additionally, at the time of these events, Respondent knew that similar procedures involving payments by defendants for

purposes unrelated to statutory restitution had often been elements of negotiated pleas and were an acceptable practice within the criminal justice system of The Thirteenth Judicial Circuit. [RR Based upon this generally 10; FH/TR 321 - 323, 370 - 377]. accepted practice within his legal community and absent any prohibiting legal authority, Respondent made a good faith and reasonable decision to present the offer on behalf of his client. His actions were never intended to improperly mislead the court or to otherwise prejudice the judicial proceeding. [DH/TR 44]. Respondent's actions were consistent with his moral, ethical, and legal duty to represent his client to the best of his ability and in a manner consistent with the client's interests. Rule 4-3.1, Comment]. His actions were never intended to be a "buy Such conduct is off" or "buy out" of any kind. [FH/TR 152]. consistent with an attorney resolving conflicting responsibilities based upon sound professional and moral judgment. Such conduct is inconsistent with a violation of either Rule 3-4.3 or 4-8.4(d).

Moreover, The Florida Bar failed to sustain its burden by proving clearly and convincingly that Respondent's actions were in fact prejudicial to the administration of justice. The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970) and Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, section 1.3. At the trial of this case no evidence of any nature was introduced by The Florida Bar tending to prove that Respondent's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice. To the contrary, the record evidence proves only that the presiding judge, the Honorable Richard

Lazzara, did not prohibit or criticize the offered trust fund. [R. Ex. 4]. The Referee also found that "the judge was made aware of the quid pro quo of money for silence and did not chastise Mr. Machin" and at the sentencing the judge indicated he would not allow this issue to influence him in sentencing the defendant. [RR 10]. Furthermore, the Referee found that no actual prejudice resulted to the administration of justice. [RR 8; R. Ex. 4].

Based upon these findings and absent any evidence indicating that the presiding judge was influenced or the state prejudiced by the offer, The Florida Bar did not sustain its burden of proof. Therefore, the recommendation by the Referee that Respondent be found guilty is clearly erroneous and should be rejected.

Finally, it should be noted that the recommendation of this Referee is substantially influenced by a concern that similar conduct was previously implemented within Respondent's legal community and that such practices result in an unequal advantage for those with financial resources. [RR 9, 10]. consideration, which reflects upon the policies, procedures, and administration of justice throughout an entire judicial circuit, should not serve as a basis for determining the guilt of Respondent in this disciplinary proceeding. Any such concern by the Referee as to the inappropriateness of accepted plea negotiation procedures is more appropriately addressed by the adoption of procedural rules by this Court, by legislation, or by amendment to our Rules of Discipline. To now, in retrospect, impose discipline upon Respondent where, as the Referee acknowledges, his conduct was

understandable under the circumstances, is fundamentally unfair and unjust. The effect of such a decision is to discipline only Respondent, despite the uncontroverted fact that both the state attorney's office and the presiding judge tacitly approved his conduct.

Accordingly, it is respectfully suggested that the clear and convincing evidence in this case is inconsistent with Respondent's violation of any Rule of Discipline. This Court should therefore reject the Referee's recommendation of guilt and enter an order finding Respondent not guilty.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE REFERE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE OF A NINETY DAY SUSPENSION IS EXCESSIVE AND UNJUSTIFIED IN VIEW OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE AND ALL MITIGATING FACTORS.

The Referee has recommended that Respondent be suspended for ninety days. This recommendation is based upon consideration of the relevant factors for discipline as set forth in <a href="The Florida Barvs. Pahules">The Florida Barvs. Pahules</a> and an application of the Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions to the facts.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130, at 132 (Fla. 1970) this Court stated that in determining appropriate discipline the following factors should be considered:

"First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations."

The suspension of Mr. Machin will be fundamentally unfair to him and to the public and is unnecessary to deter others from similar conduct. In view of Respondent's professional ability and his competent and zealous representation of his clients, a suspension will deny the public the services of a qualified lawyer. Additionally, a suspension will result in undue harshness because of the inherent effects of a suspension which include a cessation of his ability to earn income and adverse consequences to his

professional reputation.

On the other hand, the recommended suspension does nothing to encourage reformation. In other words, a suspension only serves to punish Respondent. Such a punishment is inconsistent with the teaching of this Court in <u>Pahules</u> and the subsequent holding of this Court in <u>State v. DeBoch</u>, 512 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1987) which eliminated any consideration of punishment as a purpose to be served by discipline.

Similarly, the need for a suspension to deter others is unsupported in the record, the referee report, and by the authorities cited by The Florida Bar. There is simply no evidence or cited authority which indicates that a suspension of Mr. Machin is necessary to deter others in view of the facts of this case. It is just as reasonable to conclude that the publication of an admonishment, providing notice to all members of the bar, will effectively deter others. Therefore, consistent with the purposes to be served by discipline, a suspension should not be ordered because alternative discipline will be equally effective.

In recommending discipline, the referee also considered the Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, one aggravating factor and several mitigating factors found to be present. Assuming arguendo that Respondent's conduct was proven by clear and convincing evidence to be improper, then the Standards are to be considered in determining appropriate discipline. Assuming arguendo that Respondent's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice, the applicable Standard sections were correctly determined

to be 6.0 - 6.13.

However, Standard 6.12 is not applicable and should not serve as the basis for a suspension in this case. Standard 6.1 provides that any recommended discipline is generally applicable absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances. Standard 6.12 provides that a suspension is appropriate when a lawyer engages in conduct which he knows to be improper. Therefore, only where a respondent knowingly commits misconduct and only where no mitigation exists, is a suspension appropriate.

Here, the Referee found, and the record supports, that Respondent acted without the benefit of any legal or ethical authority which prohibited his proposed conduct, despite his research efforts. [DH/TR 44, 45]. He also acted without objection to his proposed conduct by any government person or by the presiding judge. [FH/TR 324, 337; R. Ex. 3; R. Ex. 5]. Any objection or cautionary reaction would have placed him on notice to reconsider the offer or take other remedial action. This did not occur. It was also found by the Referee that it is understandable why Mr. Machin may have failed to recognize the impropriety of his acts based upon the permissible payments of money in the past within his legal community. [RR 10]. Therefore, the requisite knowledge or willfulness does not exist in this case to justify a suspension pursuant to Standard 6.12.

The impropriety of a suspension is further established by the existence of the several significant mitigating factors and the absence of aggravation. The Referee found several mitigating

factors which included the fact that Mr. Machin, a member of The Florida Bar since 1983, has no disciplinary record; that he has good character and reputation; and that there was "disclosure and/or tacit approval by others prior to the Bar's complaint". [RR 9, 10, 11]. More specifically, the referee found Respondent to be a zealous advocate for his clients who works hard for them and obtains good results. It was also found that he is a good family man and church member who has made significant contributions to his family, church and community. [RR 10].

Additionally, it is suggested that the referee failed to attach sufficient significance to these important factors. The Referee's finding that Respondent made disclosure and received the tacit approval of both the government and the presiding judge is of paramount importance because it clearly proves that neither Respondent, nor any person associated with this judicial system, considered the conduct to be unethical at the time of his acts. This uncontroverted factor differentiates this case from all others and is therefore of extreme significance as mitigation.

These facts prove Respondent to be a lawyer who possesses all the characteristics and attributes of one who is unlikely to again fail to discharge his duty to the legal system, the public, or the profession. Therefore, he is a lawyer who should be given the benefit of every doubt and can be expected to benefit from the most minimal discipline.

This absence of knowledge and these mitigating factors prove that Respondent may have acted negligently or from an error in

judgment. Such a negligent error in judgment causes either Standard 6.13 or 6.14 to be applicable. Based upon the fact that the plea agreement required no aggravation, even the potential prejudice of Respondent's conduct was minimal. Therefore, Standard 6.14 should be applied and an admonishment entered if discipline is ordered.

Also, in considering the need for discipline and the severity of discipline to be imposed, the Referee and this Court should consider the duty found to have been violated; the lawyer's mental state at the time of his actions; and the injury or potential injury caused by the conduct. Fla. Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, preamble.

In this case, the evidence establishes that this Respondent was faced with a clear responsibility to his client and possibly a conflicting responsibility to the judicial system. He made a good faith and conscious effort to resolve the conflict by researching the issue. Then, at all times he made disclosure in an effort to be "above board". [R. Ex. 3, pg. 21]. Furthermore, the offer was never intended to be a "buy out" or "buy off" and this was made known to the child's mother. [FH/TR 152]. Therefore, his mental state was that of one who believed his conduct to be appropriate and consistent with his duty to his client and the court. His conduct was clearly not knowing or willfully a violation.

Also, the uncontroverted evidence establishes that no prejudice resulted to the administration of justice in this case. No evidence was introduced or even tendered to suggest that the

administration of justice within the court of the Honorable Richard Lazzara was prejudiced or potentially prejudiced by this offer.

Therefore, any duty violated was the direct result of the obligation owed by Respondent to another contemporaneous duty. Respondent's mental state was characterized by good faith and open disclosure and no prejudice resulted. Therefore, an evaluation of these basic principals of discipline require the imposition of the most minimal discipline.

As a singular factor of aggravation the referee determined that Respondent was not remorseful. This conclusion resulted from Respondent's testimony to the effect that he would never again engage in similar activity because the adverse effects out weighed the benefits. [DH/TR 58 - 59]. Although Respondent did not satisfactorily admit that his acts were unethical or prejudicial to the administration of justice, he did candidly admit his conduct and his responsibility for his actions. He also acknowledged the concerns of the Referee and indicated his commitment to avoiding similar conduct in the future. [DH/TR 55, 58 -59].

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